
 MBCSD Agenda 11-19-2025 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
19 Seacape Drive  Muir Beach, CA 94965  415 383 9969  www.muirbeachcsd.com 

AGENDA 

     Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Wednesday, November 19, 2025   7:00 PM 

Meeting held by Teleconference 

Agenda will be emailed and posted 

Zoom invitation will be emailed  

MEETINGS BY ZOOM: Gov. Code section 54953(b provides that local agencies such as the Muir Beach Community 

Services District may hold its meetings using teleconferencing services, such as Zoom if certain conditions are complied 

with, all of which have been met by the MBCSD.  As such, the District will email Zoom invitations to all residents and other 

members of the public asking to participate in the meetings, which will also include a dial-in option using your telephone.  

Please participate from your own locations/homes, however, if needed (and as required by the code), you may participate 

from the homes of the members of the Board of Directors, being 240 Pacific Way, 1821 Shoreline Hwy, 40 Sunset Way, 209 

Sunset Way, and 23 Starbuck Drive where the meeting agenda will be available. 

TIMING OF AGENDA ITEMS:   The Board attempts to hear all items in order as stated on the agenda, however it reserves 

the right to take items out of the order listed at any time during the course of the meeting.  The following items will be 

considered, and any item can be discussed, acted upon, or approved during the course of the meeting. 

SPECIAL NEEDS:   In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in 

this meeting, please contact the District Manager at 415-388-7804.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable 

the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure participation in the meeting. 

7:00 pm Item 1: Call to Order 

Board: Christine Lam (Board President), Steven Shaffer (Board Vice-President), Leighton Hills (Director), 

David Taylor (Director), and Nikola Tede (Director) 

Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief), Ernst Karel (Meeting Secretary) 

Item 2: Approval of Agenda 

The following item or items were not included in this agenda, along with the reason for not being 

included.  Pursuant to the Bylaws of the Muir Beach Community Services District, the Board of Directors may 

now by motion require that the item or items be added back to this meeting’s agenda.  Should the item or items 

require research or preparation by staff or by member(s) of the Board of Directors in order to be properly 

heard, the item or items may be deferred to a subsequent meeting.  The motion to approve this agenda may be 

without change or may be to re-include any item or items listed below. 

Item(s) not included in this agenda: 

Item 3: Consent Calendar 

All items on the Consent Calendar are considered to be either routine or non-controversial and will be enacted 

by a single blanket action of the Board.  Upon request from a Board member or any member of the public, 

individual items may be removed from the Consent Calendar in which case they will be discussed in the meeting 

(under Items Removed from the Consent Calendar). 

A. Approval of Quarterly Financial Reports dated 9/30/25. (See attached)

B. Approval of Draft Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on 9/24/25. (See attached)

C. Approval of Draft-Audits FY 2024-25 (See at http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-

content/uploads/2025/11/Audit-MBCSD-Draft-Audit-Report-6.30.25.pdf)

Board Packet Page 1

http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/11/Audit-MBCSD-Draft-Audit-Report-6.30.25.pdf
http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/11/Audit-MBCSD-Draft-Audit-Report-6.30.25.pdf


                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 11-19-2025 

 

 

 Item 4: Items Removed from Consent Calendar   

 
Items moved from the Consent Calendar to the Regular Agenda, if any. 

 

 Item 5: Supervisor Dennis Rodoni – Muir Beach Fall Community Conversation      

 

County of Marin 4th District Supervisor Dennis Rodoni will give a brief County update and then he and his staff 

will be available to answer questions or discuss any related topics of interest to the community. 

 

 Item 6: Upper Park Trail – Discussion Item Regarding Upper Park Trail and Possible Direction to 

Staff Regarding Improvements – Suzanne and Scott Bender 

     

 

The Board has received a detailed proposal from residents Suzanne and Scott Bender regarding safety concerns 

on the Upper Muir Beach Park Trail (see attached: Bender - November 19 Proposal for Upper Muir Beach 

Trail). Their submission includes neighbor testimonials, documentation of trail usage patterns, and 

recommended actions for Board consideration. 

 

This item provides an opportunity for the Board to hear directly from the Benders, receive public input, and 

determine next steps. 

 

Process for Item 6: 

1. Opening statement by Board President (3 minutes) 

2. Presentation by Suzanne and Scott Bender (10 minutes) 

3. Public comment (10 minutes) 

4. Board discussion (15 minutes) 

5. Board determines next steps, which may include further information gathering, consultation with subject 

matter experts, specific actions, or deferral pending additional review (7 minutes) 

 

 Item 7: Fire Chief Report including MWPA Update – Fire Chief Chris Gove   

 

Fire Chief Chris Gove will present his report that includes an update on the status of the Marin Wildfire 

Protection Authority (MWPA) grant and projects. (See attached: Fire chief’s Report – November 2025) 

 

 Item 8: MBVFA Authorization to Hire a Fire Grant Writer – Fire Chief Chris Gove                          

  

The Muir Beach Fire Department (MBVFD) and its funding branch, the MBVFA, are looking to engage with a 

grant consulting firm Blackrock (used by other local fire departments such as Ross Valley Fire Department) to 

help advise the MBVFD on available grant programs that the MBVFD may be eligible for, and also, assist in the 

preparation and submittal of grant applications.  The MBVFA is willing to pay the $1,000 Submission fee plus 

the 1% Grant reward fee, but the CSD, as the umbrella agency for the MBFVD, would be required to pay any 

matching outlay share required by the grant.  This match can typically range anywhere from 5% – 50% for 

Federal and State government grants. Local and Private grant can vary depending on source. (see Blackrock 

proposed agreement attached) 

 

 Item 9: Fire Tax Renewal – Director Taylor, Director Lam, and Fire Chief Chris Gove                          

  

With the expiration of Measure L, passed in 2016, the fire department proposes that the Board consider a new 

ordinance for a special tax to be placed before the community at the June 2, 2026 election.  The original 2016 

ordinance implemented a parcel tax of $213.  This was an increase from the $200 per parcel tax passed in 2012.  

Presently with annual CPI based increases the tax collected in FY25-26 is $286.46 per parcel.  The annual 

revenue from this tax is $43,705.   The current ordinance makes exceptions for low-income residents and 

contiguous lots with the same owner.   

 

Board Packet Page 2



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 11-19-2025 

 

The fire department believes that the annual revenue collected is not sufficient to meet the future needs of the 

department and would like input from the Board about setting a new rate. The fire department is currently 

constructing a new firehouse that will require new equipment.  The fire engines we operate are exceeding their 

maximum life expectancy and much of our equipment is likewise out of date and therefore not safe to use.  The 

financial needs of the department going forward to maintain a state of readiness and a safe operating 

environment for our volunteers are significant.   

 

Some rate examples: 

$450/parcel = $67,500/year 

$550/parcel = $82,500/year 

 

 Item 10: District Manager Report – DM Halley                          

  

District Manager Mary Halley will present brief highlights from her DM report including Firehouse project 

update. (See attached) 

 

 Item 11: Cross-Connection Control Ordinance – DM Halley                          

  

District Manager Mary Halley will present the first reading of the new MBCSD Cross-Connection Control 

(CCC) Ordinance. The purpose of this ordinance is: to protect the public water supply system from 

contamination due to potential and actual cross-connections. This shall be accomplished by the establishment of 

a cross-connection control program as required by State regulations. This ordinance is adopted pursuant to Title 

17, Section 7583 – 7605, inclusive of the California Code of Regulations, entitled “Regulations Relating to 

Cross-Connections”.  The Board will hold a Special meeting on December 3, 2025 to approve the CCC 

Ordinance prior to December 31, 2025 State Water Board CCC Plan submittal deadline. (See attached: 

Ordinance No. 2025-2 establishing a Cross-Connection Control Ordinance to protect the public water system) 

 

 Item 12: Water Conservation Discount Tiers – DM Halley                          

  

At the May 28, 2025 Board meeting, the Board asked the District Manger to work with Director Hills to 

examine the District’s tiers used in calculating discounts provided to customers to essentially reward customers 

who are able to use less water per billing period, and to make recommendations for any appropriate updating.  

There seems to be no known documentation about the creation or logic behind the tiers, other than they were 

derived at a time when Donavan McFarland was the District Manager, some 25-30 years ago, and when water 

conservation was not quite as important an issue as it is today with the Redwood Creek habitat concerns.  

Further, low flow plumbing fixtures and drip irrigations were not prevalent at that time. 

 

We have studied our water usage over the years in much detail, and we know that between 78% - 80% of all 

customers fall into Tiers 1 and 2 with water usage under 10,000 gallons.  Using that information, we went ahead 

and did an analysis of narrowing Tier 3 to between 10,001 – 15,000 gallons (a 5,000-gallon bracket) to keep it 

more within the consistency of the first two tiers.  We also considered that the average usage of a 3 person 

household using 50 gals p/person p/day (which is the State’s mandated goal), accumulates usage of around 

9,150 gallons during the 61 day bi-monthly billing period, so that also made the range of 10,000 gallons fit more 

closely to the State mandate, placing the average household usage under Tier 3 or under 10,001 gallons.  In this 

scenario, it seems that about 12-13 customers – some of the largest water consumers in the district – would 

move from Tier 3 to Tier 4 losing the 30% discount.  (See attached: Calculations: to explore the impact on 

Water Users/Customers if Water Discount Tier 3 was narrowed by 15,000 gallons) 

 

Our focus was water conservation that could be achieved through updating our conservation tiers, with revenue 

generation being secondary.  However, the Board could implement this change without affecting the largest 

portion of Tier 1 and 2 water users, which are currently 78% of all customers.  Any affected customers could 

presumably rein in their water consumption to save costs, which is essentially the point of having tiered rates. 

 

Shown below are the present conservation tiers (some 25 - 30 years old) and then following, our 

Board Packet Page 3



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 11-19-2025 

 

recommendation for updated tiers.  The Board could call for a Resolution for the District to implement the 

updated tiers to then be considered for adoption at the time of the January 2026 meeting. 

 

Current: 

 

Gallons Discount%         

0 to 4,500      50% for all usage      

4,501 to 10,000      43% applies to all usage 

10,001 to 30,000      30%  applies to all usage 

30,001+        0% applies to all usage 

 

Proposed: 

 

Gallons Discount%         

0 to 4,500      50% for all usage      

4,501 to 10,000      43% applies to all usage 

10,001 to 15,000      30%  applies to all usage 

15,001+        0% applies to all usage 

 
 

 Item 13: Public Open Time  

 
Please note: 

1. Topics should be within the jurisdiction of the CSD (Water, Roads, Fire Protection, & Recreation). 

2.  The topic should not be elsewhere on the agenda. 

3. The Board and staff may only briefly respond to statements and questions (i.e. the legal requirement for items 

not posted on an agenda which otherwise informs community members that a topic is up for discussion 

and/or action.) 

4.  Public comments are limited to 3 minutes per speaker, unless waived by the Board. 

5. The period for public open time is limited to 10 minutes, unless waived by the Board. 

 

 Item 14: Recognitions & Board Member Items                            

 
Board member recognitions and pending events of interest to the community. 

 

 Item 15: Next Meeting Date and Adjournment                           

 

Next Board Meeting Date: Wednesday, January 21, 2026 

Board Packet Page 4



Board Packet Page 5



Board Packet Page 6



Board Packet Page 7



Board Packet Page 8



Board Packet Page 9



Board Packet Page 10



Board Packet Page 11



Board Packet Page 12



Board Packet Page 13



Board Packet Page 14



Board Packet Page 15



Board Packet Page 16



Board Packet Page 17



Board Packet Page 18



Board Packet Page 19



Board Packet Page 20



Board Packet Page 21



1 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 1 
Minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 2 

Wednesday, September 24, 2025 3 
 4 

OFFICIAL MINUTES ONLY UPON APPROVAL 5 
 6 
Prior to approval of these minutes by the Board of Directors in a public meeting, these minutes are 7 
draft only and subject to change. Upon approval by the Board, these minutes become the Official 8 
Minutes of the meeting.  9 
 10 
Item 1: Call to Order  11 
Board: Christine Lam (Board President), Steve Shaffer (Board Vice President), Leighton Hills 12 
(Director), David Taylor (Director)  13 
Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief), Ernst Karel (Meeting Secretary)  14 
 15 
Item 2: Approval of Agenda  16 
Item(s) not included in this agenda: None. 17 
 18 
 MOTION: To approve the agenda 19 
 Moved:  Shaffer, seconded by Taylor 20 
 Vote:   AYES: Unanimous. 21 
 22 
Item 3: Consent Calendar 23 
A. Approval of Draft Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on 7/23/25. (See attached) 24 
 25 
 MOTION:  To approve the consent calendar as submitted. 26 
 Moved:  Taylor, seconded by Shaffer 27 
 Vote:   AYES: Unanimous. 28 
 29 
Item 4: Items Removed from Consent Calendar 30 
None 31 
 32 
Item 5: Fire Chief Report including Fire House Update – Fire Chief Chris Gove 33 
ACTIVITY. So far this year we’ve responded to 48 incidents.  We continue to train on a regular basis. 34 
We are actively seeking new recruits.    35 

FIREHOUSE. We removed the old water tank pad.  We are engaging Murray Building, Inc. as a 36 
general contractor and the final legal details of the contract are being completed.  Scott Murray has 37 
extensive local experience with public works projects. Upon signing, grading should commence 38 
almost immediately so we can accomplish slab installation before the rainy season. 39 

PARCEL TAX. The Measure L parcel tax passed in 2016 is expiring and we will be working to 40 
propose a new ballot measure to renew this important financial support for the fire department. 41 

DISASTER PREPAREDNESS. We have decided to postpone the evacuation drill until next summer. 42 
We just did one three years ago and it seemed to soon to repeat this year. 43 

In October the disaster liaisons are organizing a seminar on sheltering in place in case of a disaster. 44 
Please look forward to further information. 45 

Board Packet Page 22



2 

MWPA. Measure C, creating the MWPA JPA was passed in 2020 and is in its 4th year of operation.  1 
The MWPA was approved for 10 years of operation. On September 15, I attended a retreat in Point 2 
Reyes with the principals of the operations committee.  We clarified priorities and outlined successes 3 
and challenges.    4 

There are 3 MWPA projects in Muir Beach this year.  The vegetation management of the Upper Muir 5 
Beach Park Trail will start on September 30.  We have met with arborist regarding the identification 6 
and removal of hazard trees on the ACR Terwilliger property.  A monarch butterfly survey will be 7 
conducted soon. Depending on the outcome of this survey we will plan to begin work there soon.  8 
NPS is working with us to perform maintenance on the extensive project we did in 2022 and we 9 
anticipate starting that work later this year. 10 

FIREWISE. The committee continues to forge ahead to educate the community. The chipper program 11 
is in full swing. So far, we have removed tons of brush and trees, there are several dates still available 12 
so make sure to sign up at WWW.Marinwildfire.org.  13 

BBQ/ VFA. The committee continues to meet regularly and is planning a major fundraising push when 14 
we finally break ground on the firehouse. 15 

Terwilliger project is moving along. One aspect is defining what is a “hazard tree” (technical term).  16 
 17 
Item 6: Proposed Plan to improve the safety and maintenance of the upper Muir Beach trail – 18 
Scott and Suzanne Bender 19 
Please see attached Neighbor Testimonials for a recent history of maintenance and use of the Upper 20 
Park trail including a more recent uptick in popularity and use by the public (mainly bike riders) at 21 
large. As a result, Muir Beach residents Scott and Suzanne Bender would like to propose several 22 
improvements on the trail and are willing to provide $5,000 in funding towards these goals. 23 

1. Install a locked swing gate at the trail entrance that would allow the MBVFD to access the trail 24 
with their vehicles as far as ~28 Starbuck Drive. Hikers may use the existing stairs, or limited 25 
access beside the gate. (Fire Chief Gove is in support of this gate) 26 

2. Install signage stating that the trail is closed to downhill bike traffic (but open to uphill bike 27 
traffic).  28 

3. As enforcement is an issue, install 4-6 sets of chicanes that force bikers to dismount to pass 29 
through. The concept is to make the trail inconvenient for bikers and disrupt their ability to 30 
speed down the trail. Such installation would have to be done in concert with the upcoming 31 
trail vegetation management sponsored by the CSD in order to ensure that bikers do not 32 
simply circumvent the chicanes by riding onto adjoining private property.  33 

4. Smooth out the trail damage (deep ruts that are now almost impassable for pedestrians) 34 
caused by 12 years of bikers. This should be done well after the installation of the chicanes, a 35 
reduction in bikers has been observed, and no additional safety measures have been 36 
identified. 37 
 38 

Discussion ensues about the use of the trail and strategies to make it safer and more accessible for 39 
pedestrians. Taylor says that they only have permission to clear 25 feet, which can snake down 40 
between the properties (the park, which is CSD property and not an easement, is wider than 25 feet). 41 
They will do fire management. Vegetation reduction never means removing everything. If the best way 42 
to make a gate is to have plantings on either side of it, there’s nothing to prevent putting in plants or 43 
bushes.  44 
 45 
Steve Shaffer likes the idea of chicanes. There’s a need to have a place where bikers have to get off 46 
their bikes.  47 

Board Packet Page 23

http://www.marinwildfire.org/


3 

 1 
Board members and neighbors who abut and/or use the trail speak in favor of the project. Don Piotter 2 
speaks in favor of first trying to control bicycle traffic first before banning downhill traffic altogether. 3 
Ernst Karel inquires about the possibility of having two trails, one for pedestrians and one for 4 
bicyclists. Chris Gove offers full support of a gate and notes that chicanes can cause a problem for 5 
fire vehicles, so they would have to be after the area trucks would need to access (at the point where 6 
it gets too steep for vehicles). Beth Begault asks about how we’re going to repair the surface that’s 7 
been rutted and expresses concerns about repair and ongoing damage and maintenance. Gravel 8 
could create a dangerous surface for bicyclists. Mary Halley notes that the American Trail Act has it 9 
such that the person who uses the trail does so at their own risk. The exception is that the more you 10 
add infrastructure, the more the CSD takes on more responsibility – e.g. if we add gravel and that is 11 
associated with injuries.  12 
 13 
Scott Bender has historical data. The objective in 2013 was to separate biking and hiking into 14 
separate trails. We had trail mapped for dual trail setup – the lowest was $38,000 to do that (in 2013). 15 
Dual trail is possible but expensive. Need to maintain more than every 12 years. Materials used could 16 
make it more durable but runs the risks that Mary mentions.  17 
 18 
Following further discussion, Christine Murray acknowledges that it’s an important public safety issue 19 
that must be addressed; how and when is the big question. The board has reviewed the budget, and 20 
we do not have funds to allocate to this, because we’ve done two trail enhancement projects, plus the 21 
playground: the trail from Sunset to Little Beach, and the trail from MBCC to Sunset Way was 22 
upgraded. This month we’ll also need to install a new septic system. We also have resources going to 23 
the fire house. For this project specifically, the issue is to increase public safety, and we must do 24 
something. The question is when. Should we decide to install a gate, Murray believes we should 25 
check with our legal counsel to make sure there’s nothing we’re missing. Other component to think 26 
about is the two-path solution. It may not be tremendously costly to do this; could be done cost-27 
effectively if this is a route we decide to take. The biggest dependency now is for the MMWA work 28 
that’s going to happen on the 30th of September. Once we have a sense of the layout of the 29 
vegetation, we can start to look at where the gate and chicanes go. 30 
 31 
Murray would prefer to have further discussion at next board meeting after we get a sense of the 32 
MMWA vegetation clearing. Taylor agrees. Shaffer doesn’t see a second path for bicycles working 33 
out. Tede agrees with Shaffer and would like to see it be a pedestrian-only path, with a closed gate at 34 
the top that would keep bicyclists on Seacape. The issue will be tabled until the next meeting.  35 
 36 
Suzanne notes that the trail could get bad fast if we clear it and leave it open, and requests that it 37 
remain closed after clearing.  38 
 39 
Item 7: District Manager Report – Mary Halley 40 
District Manager Mary Halley will present brief highlights from her DM report (see attached). Her 41 
report as always is available in full as part of each meeting packet at 42 
https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/ .  43 
 44 
We’re doing water main valve replacements. Did three more critical ones at Starbuck Extension. 45 
Putting in a new valve and meter on lower tank to be able to monitor leaks better, and putting a 46 
drainage pipe to take water off lower tank property next week. 47 
 48 
Water intertie possibility: Frank Valley Road project has gotten moved to 2028, so Supervisor Rodoni 49 

Board Packet Page 24

https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/


4 

called a meeting of all parties involved to go for some kind of grant, even though grants are getting 1 
more difficult these days. That discussion is still on the table. 2 
 3 
Halley is looking into water tiers to have something to bring to the board to encourage more water 4 
conservation in the community. She is also continuing with the Cross-connection Control Planning 5 
and water cross-connection survey. 6 
 7 
Firehouse is still in progress; Halley goes over the figures from her report. Lagoon Drive project is 8 
complete. Road maintenance still planned: crack-filling on Sunset and road edge stabilization at 9 
Starbuck Extension.  10 
 11 
Item 8: Public Open Time  12 
None 13 
 14 
Item 9: Recognitions & Board Member Items 15 
Shaffer appreciates Halley’s work, most recently the work she managed on Lagoon Way, which was 16 
quick and under budget and very well done. Taylor appreciates Shaffer’s and Hills’ work on that 17 
project too. Taylor appreciates Scott and Suzanne Bender for bringing the trail issue up. Thanks to 18 
Bob Bowyer for the photos of the trail. Murray also thanks Halley for her work on the other trails in the 19 
community, and the upgrades to the playground.  20 
 21 
Item 10: Next Meeting Date and Adjournment 22 
Next Board Meeting Date: Wednesday, November 19, 2025.  23 
 24 
There being no further business to come before the board, the meeting is adjourned. 25 
Meeting adjourned at 20:12 pm. 26 

Board Packet Page 25



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

1 
 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................... 3 

The Crisis: Documented Facts ....................................................................................... 5 

Strava Data Shows Potential for Danger ....................................................................... 5 

E-Bikes: The Next Safety Crisis ................................................................................... 5 

Vegetation Clearing Made It Worse.............................................................................. 5 

Commercial Race Events/Large Biking Groups Using Trail ............................................ 5 

Additional Danger: Street Intersection Hazards ............................................................ 5 

Trail Damage ............................................................................................................. 6 

Inequitable Resource Allocation ................................................................................. 6 

Community Testimony: 11 Households Along Trail Corridor ............................................. 7 

Legal and Liability Issues ............................................................................................... 7 

Additional Considerations ............................................................................................. 8 

Upper Muir Beach Trail: Historically Pedestrian-Only .................................................... 8 

There is Precedent for One-way Bike Restrictions in Marin ............................................ 8 

Public Use Does Not Prohibit Safety Restrictions ......................................................... 8 

Physical Barriers Are Essential .................................................................................... 8 

Known Risk + No Action = Liability ............................................................................... 9 

Proposed Solutions ..................................................................................................... 10 

Immediate Action (At November 19 CSD Meeting) ...................................................... 10 

1. Adopt Resolution: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail.......... 10 

Phase 1: Short-Term (Within 90 Days) ........................................................................ 10 

2. Install Locked Swing Gate at Trail Entrance ......................................................... 10 

3. Replace Dilapidated/Inadequate Signage ........................................................... 10 

4. Install 4-6 Additional Chicane Sets .................................................................... 10 

5. Establish Trail Use Policy ................................................................................... 11 

Phase 2: Long-Term (3-6 Months) .............................................................................. 11 

6. Trail Surface Repair ........................................................................................... 11 

7. Regular Maintenance Schedule ......................................................................... 11 

Phase 3: Study Two-Trail System Feasibility (6-12 Months) .......................................... 11 

Board Packet Page 26



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

2 
 

8. Two-trail Proposal ............................................................................................. 11 

Potential Budget ...................................................................................................... 12 

Why the Board Must Act on November 19 ..................................................................... 13 

12 Years Is Long Enough ........................................................................................... 13 

Community Is Ready to Help .................................................................................... 13 

Precedent Exists ...................................................................................................... 13 

Before Someone Gets Hurt ....................................................................................... 13 

Recommended Motion for November 19....................................................................... 14 

Supporting Documentation Attached ........................................................................... 15 

Exhibit 1: Strava Segment Data .................................................................................... 16 

Exhibit 2: Ineffective Chicanes ..................................................................................... 17 

Exhibit 3: Trail Entry and Intersection Hazard ................................................................. 18 

Exhibit 4: Trail Damage, Deep Ruts ............................................................................... 19 

Exhibit 5: Eleven Neighbor Testimonials ........................................................................ 23 

Exhibit 6: Trail Encroachment on Neighbor Property Line ................................................ 29 

Exhibit 7: Marin County Precedent for One-Way Bike Restrictions ................................... 30 

Exhibit 8: Muir Beach Trails Spending and Distance ....................................................... 32 

Exhibit 9: Current Signage on Trail................................................................................. 34 

Exhibit 10: Recommended Chicanes ............................................................................ 35 

Exhibit 11: August 19, 2025 Marin Overland race usage (Emails sent to Board) ................. 36 

Exhibit 12: Commitment by District Manager to fund at least $10,000 of Trail Design ........ 39 

Exhibit 13: Swing Gate Options .................................................................................... 41 

Exhibit 14: Trail Entry Modification Over Time ................................................................ 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet Page 27



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

3 
 

To: Muir Beach Community Services District Board of Directors 
From: Trail Corridor Residents and Concerned Community Members 
Date: November 3, 2025 
Re: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail (for 11/19/25 Board Meeting) 

 

Executive Summary 
We request the Muir Beach CSD Board vote on November 19, 2025 to implement physical 
safety barriers on the Upper Muir Beach Trail and improve the trail for safe mixed use. The 
hazards of this trail in its current state are well-documented:  

• ~2,200 cyclists per year go downhill on the trail, some at average speeds of 22mph 
• Increasing popularity of E-bikes guarantees these speeds will only increase 
• October 2025 CSD vegetation management program completely removed the 

functionality of the two existing chicanes (meant to slow cycling speed) and 
widened the trail in many areas (more attractive to large groups) 

• Racing groups and events are increasingly using the trail without permission or 
safety oversight 

• Cyclists are cutting the intersection at Starbuck Drive x Seacape Drive at high 
speeds to access the trail, creating high potential for motor vehicle collisions 

• 12 years of unfettered cycling activity has made the trail impassable in sections, 
particularly for seniors in the community 

• Upper Muir Beach contains 77% of trail feet in community but has received only 
23% of trails spending since 2018, $0 of which has been allocated to this trail 

Our proposed solution for Safe Mixed Use of the Upper Muir Beach Trail: 

1. Install a locked swing gate at the trail entrance (Fire Chief Gove supports; allows 
fire vehicle access, pedestrian access, cyclists to walk bike through) 

2. Install 4-6 additional chicane sets throughout the trail requiring cyclists to 
dismount 

3. Consider closing trail to downhill bike traffic while maintaining access for hikers 
and uphill cyclists 

4. Smooth out the trail and remove biker-created ruts 

Board Packet Page 28



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

4 
 

Why physical barriers: There is no enforcement mechanism for signage-only restrictions. 
The only effective solution is making downhill biking physically inconvenient and 
unsuitable for competitive speed runs as cyclists pursuing Strava records will ignore signs. 

Community residents are offering $6,000 toward implementation. District Manager 
Mary Halley has already committed $10,000 immediately from CSD funds. Total estimated 
cost: $15,500 – 23,500.  

The time for studies and delays has passed. The data is clear. The danger is real. The 
solutions exist.  

Please vote YES on November 19 to protect our neighbors. 

Submitted by: Trail Corridor Residents 
Primary Contact: Suzanne and Scott Bender, 55 Starbuck Drive 
Date: November 3, 2025 

 

  

Board Packet Page 29



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

5 
 

The Crisis: Documented Facts 

Strava Data Shows Potential for Danger 
• 26,210 rides by 4,403 cyclists since 2013, and this only represents STRAVA participants 

(see Exhibit 1) 

• Dangerously fast descents by cyclists: Average of 22 mph by "The Headlands Connoisseur," 
holding King of the Mountain status (54 seconds). Dozens of others have descended in 
under 1 minute 

• Trail marketed on social media for competitive speed records 

E-Bikes: The Next Safety Crisis 
E-bikes are increasingly popular and can reach even higher speeds with less effort than 
traditional bikes. The current infrastructure cannot handle conventional bike speeds; e-
bikes will make a dangerous situation catastrophic. Without immediate action, the trail will 
become an e-bike raceway. 

Vegetation Clearing Made It Worse 
The October 2025 wildfire vegetation management removed natural barriers that provided 
minimal biker deterrence. The 2013 chicanes are now completely ineffective; cyclists blow 
through them at full speed. The CSD's vegetation management program clearing 
flammable vegetation has made the trail even more attractive to groups of bicyclists 
and e-bikes. (see Exhibit 2) 

Commercial Race Events/Large Biking Groups Using Trail 
On August 19, 2025, Marin Overland stapled signs to community trail markers directing 
100+ race participants down the trail—without Board knowledge or permission. Less than 
a month later, on October 11, 2025, an organized group of over 35 bikers rode down the trail 
at the same time and congregated in the community center parking area. These are just 
two examples of large groups using the trail, within a month of each other, and with no 
consideration towards neighborhood safety. 

Additional Danger: Street Intersection Hazards 
Cyclists race to access the trail and cut the corner at Starbuck Drive and Seacape Drive at 
30+ mph, creating collision risk with vehicles. For example, on September 6, 2025, 
residents had to slam on brakes as three bikers cut across the intersection to the trail entry. 
Cyclists also ignore the stop sign at the trail's lower end, riding into oncoming traffic near 
the community center. (see Exhibit 3) 

Board Packet Page 30



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

6 
 

Trail Damage 
Twelve years of high-speed bike traffic has created deep ruts making the trail almost 
impassable for pedestrians. This is especially problematic for Muir Beach's aging 
community as seniors can no longer safely navigate what was once their own 
neighborhood trail. The trail has become effectively inaccessible to the very community 
members it was meant to serve. (see Exhibit 4) 

Inequitable Resource Allocation 
Since 2018, the CSD has invested 77% of trail management funds in repairing 
trails/stairs in lower Muir Beach, yet has spent $0 on the Upper Muir Beach Trail (despite  
years of documented deterioration and safety concerns). This disparity is particularly 
troubling given: 

• There are ~3,380 feet of trail in Muir Beach, 72% of which are located in Upper Muir 
Beach (including Seacape and all streets north). Despite this, Upper Muir Beach has only 
received 23% of CSD Trails Maintenance spending over the last 8 years. (see Exhibit 8) 

• Upper Muir Beach neighbors are now offering $6,000 of their own funds to address 
problems the CSD should have maintained.  

 

 

  

Board Packet Page 31



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

7 
 

Community Testimony: 11 Households Along Trail 
Corridor 
Residents from Starbuck Drive and Seacape Drive (September 2025) report: 

• Vandalism of safety features: Chicanes ripped out and thrown onto private property one 
day after 2013 installation; had to be reinstalled with cement 

• Near-misses with vehicles: Increasing frequency of dangerous encounters at Starbuck x 
Seacape intersection 

• Trail unusable for families and pets: Residents afraid to let children or pets use the trail at 
all, but especially on weekends and throughout the summer 

• Trail impassable for aging community: Deep ruts and deterioration prevent seniors from 
using their own neighborhood trail 

• E-bike concern: Increasing e-bike usage will dramatically worsen speed and safety 
problems 

• Property concerns: Cyclists cutting through yards to bypass obstacles 

• Property encroachment: Current trail s-curves extend beyond public trail easement and 
encroach on neighboring property line (see Exhibit 6) 

• Erosion and damage: Deep ruts from 12 years of bike traffic 

Trail corridor neighbors are collectively offering $6,000 towards a permanent solution 
implemented in the near term. Most corridor residents support restricting downhill bike 
access. 

 

Legal and Liability Issues 
No Transparency on Legal Opinion 

The CSD Board has indicated that it has obtained legal counsel regarding the trail. The 
Board has decided not to share this information with the community before the 
November 19th CSD Board meeting. As such, there is currently no information available as 
to what legal opinion has been sought regarding access restrictions, gates, or chicanes, or 
what that legal opinion may entail. 

 

Board Packet Page 32



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

8 
 

Additional Considerations 

Upper Muir Beach Trail: Historically Pedestrian-Only 
The Upper Muir Beach Trail entrance originally featured only a staircase that naturally 
impeded heavy bicycle traffic—cyclists would have needed to carry their bikes up each 
step, making the trail effectively pedestrian-only. (see Exhibit 14) This changed abruptly 
during the extended construction of 60 Seacape Drive, when property owners there 
bulldozed repeatedly through the brush adjacent to the staircase, carving out an 
unauthorized vehicle access route to the back of their property. This improvised road was 
created without community consultation, environmental review, or any safety assessment 
whatsoever. The CSD Board allowed this destruction to proceed, then failed to enforce 
restoration of the trail to its original condition, thus sanctioning unrestricted bicycle access 
that was never intended by the trail's design. In 2013, minor safety improvements were 
installed to protect pedestrian access, primarily through volunteer efforts. Zero 
maintenance has occurred since then. 

There is Precedent for One-way Bike Restrictions in Marin 
Marin County trails regularly implement directional bike restrictions for safety. One option 
is to close the trail to downhill bikes, but allow uphill bike traffic and all pedestrian 
use. This maintains public access while eliminating the speed danger. (see Exhibit 7) 

• Middle Green Gulch Trail, Muir Beach: Downhill bikes only 

• Various Mt. Tamalpais trails: One-way designations 

• Marin Water's 2025 new bike access: Includes directional limitations 

Public Use Does Not Prohibit Safety Restrictions 
The trail's public use designation does not prevent reasonable restrictions for public 
safety. Marin County has precedent for one-way bike restrictions, gates, and chicanes on 
similar trails. Public safety concerns justify restricting downhill bike traffic while 
maintaining public trail access for hikers and uphill cyclists.  

Physical Barriers Are Essential 
There is no enforcement mechanism for signage-only restrictions. The CSD has no trail 
patrol, no citation authority, and no practical way to stop cyclists once they're on the trail. 
The 2013 experience proves this: chicanes were immediately vandalized by cyclists 
determined to maintain their speed runs. Competitive cyclists pursuing Strava KOM status 
will ignore signs.  

Board Packet Page 33



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

9 
 

The only effective solution is making high-speed downhill biking physically 
inconvenient: 

• Gate at entrance: Gate must be positioned for maximum visibility from the northern end of 
Seacape to reduce cyclists cutting the intersection at high speeds 

• Multiple chicane sets: Forces cyclists to navigate around barriers, eliminating the "fun" of 
high-speed descent. Requires repeated dismounting, making the trail too slow and 
cumbersome for competitive riding 

• Goal: Not punishment, but practical deterrence. Make the trail unsuitable for speed records 
and races 

Known Risk + No Action = Liability 
• Late 2020/early 2021: Carol Lankford-Gross reported dangerous cyclist encounters and 

requested that the CSD investigate implementing safety measures; Board took no action 
(see Exhibit 5 for her testimonial) 

• August and September 2025: Multiple residents document ongoing safety crisis 

• Board aware of 26,000+ bike rides (some at speeds exceeding 20mph) 

• Board conducted vegetation clearing in October 2025 that worsened conditions 

Should serious injury or death occur, the Board's documented inaction creates significant 
liability exposure. 

 

  

Board Packet Page 34



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

10 
 

Proposed Solutions 

Immediate Action (At November 19 CSD Meeting) 

1. Adopt Resolution: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
Declare trail safety crisis, authorize immediate safety interventions, and approve resolution 
for short-term and long-term safety improvements. 

Phase 1: Short-Term (Within 90 Days) 

2. Install Locked Swing Gate at Trail Entrance 
• Must be visible from the street (Starbuck/Seacape intersection) to alert and slow 

approaching cyclists before they reach the corner 

• Allows MBVFD vehicle access up to ~28 Starbuck Drive (Fire Chief Gove supports) 

• Hikers/exiting bikers use existing stairs or limited access beside gate 

• Primary enforcement mechanism = physically deter downhill bike speed 

• Eliminates dangerous street intersection conflicts where cyclists cut corners at 30+ mph 

• Cost: ~$5,000 

3. Replace Dilapidated/Inadequate Signage (see Exhibit 9) 

• "TRAIL CLOSED TO DOWNHILL BIKE TRAFFIC" (if approved by CSD) 

• "Uphill bike traffic only permitted" (if approved by CSD) 

• "Pedestrians have right of way" 

• “Cyclists: Slow!” 

• Cost: ~$500 

Note: Signage alone will not deter cyclists; physical barriers are essential 

4. Install 4-6 Additional Chicane Sets Force bikers to dismount to pass through, 
making downhill riding inconvenient. This is the only effective enforcement mechanism—
signage alone will not deter competitive cyclists pursuing Strava records. Chicanes must 
be coordinated with vegetation management to prevent bypass through private property. 
(see Exhibit 10) 

• Cost: ~$5,000-8,000 

Board Packet Page 35



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

11 
 

5. Establish Trail Use Policy Document formal policy indicating right of way for 
pedestrians, intentions for safe mixed use, and trail closure to downhill bikes (if approved 
by CSD).  

Note: There is no practical enforcement mechanism for signage alone. Physical barriers 
(gate and chicanes) are the only effective means of discouraging dangerous downhill bike 
behavior. 

Phase 2: Long-Term (3-6 Months) 

6. Trail Surface Repair Smooth deep ruts after bike traffic has been significantly 
reduced. Address trail location as needed due to property encroachment issues 

• Cost: ~$5,000-10,000 

7. Regular Maintenance Schedule Prevent 12-year neglect from recurring. 

Phase 3: Study Two-Trail System Feasibility (6-12 Months) 

8. Two-trail Proposal One board member has proposed creating separate trails for bikes 
and pedestrians. While this could be a long-term solution, it cannot address the immediate 
safety crisis: 

Why Two-Trail System Must Be Future Phase: 

• Timeline: 1-2+ years for American Trail Act/legal review, environmental review (?), 
permits(?), design, and construction 

• Substantial design roadblocks: bikers will poach walking trail unless permanent 
barrier in place along entire trail 

• High Cost: Unknown cost but likely $50,000+ depending on design requirements plus 
ongoing dual trail maintenance 

• Liability unknown: American Trail Act imposes liability to community at a certain 
level of improvement 

• Feasibility unknown: Terrain, property boundaries, and easements will need 
assessment and redress 

• Meanwhile, people are at risk: Cannot wait years while studying long-term options 

Recommended Approach: 

• Implement gate, chicanes, and signage immediately (Phase 1, 90-days) 

• Repair trail and address property line encroachment (Phase 2, 3-6 months) 

Board Packet Page 36



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

12 
 

• Commission two-trail feasibility study in parallel (Phase 3, 6-12 months) 

• If feasible, pursue two-trail system as Phase 4 enhancement (2-3 years) 

• Gate remains necessary regardless of two-trail outcome (controls street intersection 
access) 

A two-trail system could be an interesting investment in Muir Beach's future trail 
infrastructure, but it's not an alternative to immediate safety measures—it's a potential long-
term enhancement that would take years to realize. The current crisis requires action in 
weeks, not years. 

Potential Budget 
Total Estimated Cost: $15,500-$23,500 
Neighbor Donations: $6,000 
District Manager Mary Halley Committed: $10,000 
Total Funding Committed: $16,000 
Net Additional CSD Cost: $0 - $7,500 

 

  

Board Packet Page 37



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

13 
 

Why the Board Must Act on November 19 

12 Years Is Long Enough 
No trail maintenance or safety improvements since 2013. The 2020/21 warning was 
ignored. Recent vegetation clearing made the crisis worse. Meanwhile, the CSD has spent 
considerable funds (77% of trail management funds in the last 8 years) repairing trails 
and stairs in lower Muir Beach; the upper trail has been completely neglected despite 
serving the same community. 

Community Is Ready to Help 
$6,000 in neighbor donations committed. District Manager Mary Halley has committed 
$10,000 immediately. Volunteers are ready to assist. Fire Chief supports gate solution. With 
$16,000 already committed, the net additional cost to CSD is likely only $2,000-7,500. 

Precedent Exists 
Multiple Marin trails restrict bike direction for safety without legal challenge. 

Before Someone Gets Hurt 
The Strava leaderboard includes a reminder: A California cyclist killed a pedestrian while 
pursuing "King of the Mountain" status and was convicted of vehicular manslaughter. Our 
trail already has 26,210 recorded attempts. It's not a question of if, but when. 

 

  

Board Packet Page 38



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

14 
 

Recommended Motion for November 19 
Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 

"The MBCSD Board recognizes the documented safety crisis on the Upper Muir Beach 
Trail, including 26,000+ bike descents since 2013, dangerous street intersection 
conflicts, ineffective/deteriorated safety features, and commercial/group usage 
without authorization. The Board directs immediate implementation of: 

1. Installation of locked swing gate at trail entrance within 90 days 

2. Signage giving pedestrians the right of way and closing trail to downhill bike 
traffic within 90 days 

3. Installation of 4-6 additional chicane sets within 90 days 

4. Repair trail surface within 3-6 months 

The Board commits to regular trail maintenance going forward." 

 

  

Board Packet Page 39



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

15 
 

Supporting Documentation Attached 
• Exhibit 1: Strava segment data  

• Exhibit 2: Photos of ineffective chicanes 

• Exhibit 3: Photos of trail entry and intersection hazard 

• Exhibit 4: Photos of trail damage, deep ruts 

• Exhibit 5: Neighbor testimonials from 11 trail corridor households (09/25), including 
documentation of 2013 chicane vandalism and cement reinstallation 

• Exhibit 6: Photo of trail encroachment on neighbor property line 

• Exhibit 7: Marin County precedent for one-way bike restrictions 

• Exhibit 8: CSD Trails Maintenance Spending by Transaction, 2018-2025YTD 

• Exhibit 9: Photos of current signage on trail 

• Exhibit 10: Photos of recommended chicanes for installation 

• Exhibit 11: August 19, 2025 Marin Overland race usage (Emails sent to Board) 

• Exhibit 12: Commitment by District Manager to fund at least $10,000 of Trail 
Improvements 

• Exhibit 13: Photos of Swing gate options 

• Exhibit 14: Trail entry modification over time 

  

Board Packet Page 40



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

16 
 

Exhibit 1: Strava Segment Data 
 

Since 2013 this trail has seen over 26,000 bike rides (>2,000 per year) speeding down the 
hill, often at an average speed of over 20 mph. The fastest rider (self-titled “The 
Headlands Connoisseur”) has ridden the trail in a mere 54 seconds through the existing 
chicanes.  

 

 

 

  

Board Packet Page 41



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

17 
 

Exhibit 2: Ineffective Chicanes 
Vegetation management program has removed any barriers to speed for cyclists and 
groups of cyclists. Cyclists will now simply speed past the chicanes in multiple areas. 

 

 

 

  

Board Packet Page 42



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

18 
 

Exhibit 3: Trail Entry and Intersection Hazard 

 

Cyclists 
coming from 

Seacape 

Cutting the 
corner at 
Starbuck 

View from 
Starbuck, 
corner cut 

Board Packet Page 43



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

19 
 

Exhibit 4: Trail Damage, Deep Ruts 

  

  

Board Packet Page 44



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

20 
 

  

  

Board Packet Page 45



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

21 
 

  

  

Board Packet Page 46



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

22 
 

   

  

  

 

 

Board Packet Page 47



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

23 
 

Exhibit 5: Eleven Neighbor Testimonials 

 

  

Board Packet Page 48



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

24 
 

From: Simon Jeffery, 36 Starbuck Dive 

 

From: Don and Barbara Piotter, 64 Seacape Drive 

 

  

Board Packet Page 49



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

25 
 

From: Bernard Halliwell, 38 Seacape Drive 

 

From: Rick Bernard and Shawn Roberts, 40 Starbuck Drive 

 

From: Bob Bowyer, 34 Seacape Drive 

 

  

Board Packet Page 50



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

26 
 

From: Beth Begault, 14 Starbuck Drive 

 

 

From: Melissa and Larry Lasky, 6 Starbuck Drive 

 

  

Board Packet Page 51



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

27 
 

From: Janice Kubota, 44 Starbuck Drive 

 

From: Hathaway and Marcia Watson, 32 Starbuck Drive 

 

  

Board Packet Page 52



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

28 
 

From: Carol and Lloyd Gross, 71 Seacape Drive 

 

  

Board Packet Page 53



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

29 
 

Exhibit 6: Trail Encroachment on Neighbor Property Line 

 

 

 

  

Neighbor’s 2 Properties 

Black lines show actual 
property lines based on 

property markers 

Encroachment 
Encroachment 

Encroachment 

Board Packet Page 54



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

30 
 

Exhibit 7: Marin County Precedent for One-Way Bike 
Restrictions 
“After being banned completely from singletrack trails on Mt Tam in the 1980s, Marin Water 
will open over 6 miles of trails to bikes in [October} 2025… Class 1 e-bikes will also be 
treated like acoustic bikes and allowed wherever bikes are allowed.” 

 

 

Board Packet Page 55



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

31 
 

 

 

  

Board Packet Page 56



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

32 
 

Exhibit 8: Muir Beach Trails Spending and Distance  
Sources: Sharry Mullin (MBCSD Bookkeeper), Trails Maintenance Category, 2018-2025 and 
Google Maps distance calculator 

 

 

Board Packet Page 57



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

33 
 

 

 

Sample of Google Maps Measurement Tool (Sunset to Pacific Way Trail/Stairs) 

 

 

  

Board Packet Page 58



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

34 
 

Exhibit 9: Current Signage on Trail 
The trail only has three signs, one of which is almost unreadable and lying on the ground. 

 

  

 

Board Packet Page 59



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

35 
 

Exhibit 10: Recommended Chicanes  
Source: Bob Bowyer 

 

 

Board Packet Page 60



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

36 
 

Exhibit 11: August 19, 2025 Marin Overland race usage 
(Emails sent to Board)  
Email sent to MBCSD Board and Director on August 16, 2025. Only Board members Nikola 
Tede and David Taylor responded to alert regarding race. 

 

Board Packet Page 61



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

37 
 

 

Board Packet Page 62



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

38 
 

 

  

Board Packet Page 63



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

39 
 

Exhibit 12: Commitment by District Manager to fund at 
least $10,000 of Trail Design  
 

 

Board Packet Page 64



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

40 
 

 

  

Board Packet Page 65



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

41 
 

Exhibit 13: Swing Gate Options 
Dual Swing and Single Swing Gates, in aluminum, are both options. Due to the length of the 
entryway, a dual swing gate may give more flexibility for VFD vehicles to pass through. Both 
would require a lock to keep closed, and an additional post for pedestrian access and 
cyclists (walking bikes). 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet Page 66



PROPOSAL: Trail Design for Safe Mixed Use of Upper Muir Beach Trail 
 

42 
 

Exhibit 14: Trail Entry Modification Over Time 
The original entry to the Upper Muir Beach Trail was a set of stairs. Rarely, if ever, were 
cyclists found on the trail as they would have had to walk the bike up the stairs. 

 

 

 

Prior to 2013 and during the extended construction of 60 Seacape Drive, the owners of that 
property drove multiple construction vehicles through the brush to the left of the staircase, 
effectively creating an access point for vehicles and cyclists that never previously existed. 
The CSD Board at the time did not stop this behavior, nor did they require the owner to 
return the trail to its prior condition. 

1. Historic Trail Entry (Stairs) 

2. Makeshift Entry 
(caused by construction 
vehicles for 60 Seacape) 

Board Packet Page 67



MBCSD November 19, 2025 

FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

ACTIVITY 

So far this year we’ve responded to 52 incidents.  We continue to train on a regular basis. Chief Gove 

participated with Engine 676 in Driver/Operator 1B training at Bolinas Fire last month. We are actively 

seeking new recruits.   Engine 660 was serviced at Diego Brothers. 

FIREHOUSE:    

To be included in the District Manager’s report. 

PARCEL TAX  

On the agenda for the CSD to discuss tonight. 

DISASTER PREPAREDNESS 

The committee is planning a evacuation drill late June or early July depending on County 

availability. In October the disaster liaisons held a seminar on sheltering in place in case of a 

disaster at the Pelican inn. It was well attended 

MWPA 

The Upper Muir Beach Trail work was completed in early October.  There will be routine maintenance 

performed every few years and we will continue to request funding for this purpose.   

The Terwilliger Grove/All Hands Ecology has completed permit process and awaits submission of a 

monarch butterfly survey by Nov. 14th.  Work will be scheduled based on availability of the arborist 

crew.  We will notify the community of planned road closures in advance as required by Marin County 

DPW.   

The maintenance of the former Banducci Ranch NPS lands alongside northbound HWY 1 can now be 

undertaken as the federal government shutdown has ended.  This was originally treated in late 2022. 

We have received the relevant CalTrans encroachment permit and are working closely with NPS on 

areas to address. 

FIREWISE 

The Firewise committee has applied for next years certification. They are forging ahead with planning to 

present a Zone 0 plan to the community in line with planned new regulations as required by AB 3074. As 

it develops we will have a seminar on how to understand the regulations for existing homes. Muir Beach 

continues to chip more vegetation per capita than most of Marin County – generating more cubic yards 

of chipped material than all but two other jurisdictions. 

MBVFA 

The group is getting ready to sell T shirts at the holiday fair and is starting to plan on next year’s BBQ 

Chris Gove Chief MBVFD 

Board Packet Page 68



 

Muir Beach FD (CSD)   
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH BLACKROCK 3 PARTNERS INC. 

 
This Professional Services Agreement (Agreement) is made and entered into this day of December 
xx, 2025 by and between the Muire Beach FD (Department) and Black Rock 3 Partners Inc. 
(Consultant), a California corporation. Department and Consultant are referred to individually as 
“Party” and collectively as “Parties.” 

 
Recitals 

WHEREAS, Department desires to have certain services provided as set forth in Exhibit A; and, 

WHEREAS, Contractor represents that it is qualified and able to perform services; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor is agreeable to providing the services on the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 

 
Now, therefore, the Parties mutually agree as follows: 

 
1. Scope of Work. Consultant shall perform the services described in Exhibit “A” attached 
and incorporated by reference. 

 
2. Time of Performance. Consultant shall begin performance and shall complete all 
required services by no later than the dates set forth in Exhibit “A.” Any services for which 
times for performance are not specified in this Agreement shall be started and completed 
by Consultant in a reasonably prompt and timely manner based upon the circumstances 
and direction communicated by Department to Consultant. 
 

2.1 Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin on December XX, 2025 and will end 
when terminated in accordance with Section 6. This Agreement shall terminate in the event the 
Department does not appropriate funds for the payment obligations under this Agreement. Any 
such termination of this Agreement due to the failure of the Department to appropriate funds 
for payment for services under this Agreement shall not be a breach of this Agreement. The fees 
proposed by Consultant shall remain unchanged for the entire term of this Agreement and any 
extensions of this Agreement, subject to annual rate increases in accordance with, but not 
limited by, the change in the applicable Consumer Price Index. 

2.1.2 Option to Extend. This Agreement may be extended by written agreement of the 
Parties. 

 
3. Compensation. Department shall pay Consultant at the billing rates set forth in Exhibit 
“B,” for services performed under this Agreement, subject to annual rate increases in accordance 
with the change in the applicable Consumer Price Index. 
 

3.1 Invoices. Consultant shall submit invoice(s) to Department that sufficiently 
describe the services performed, including times, dates, and names of persons performing the 
services. If Consultant is providing services in response to a development application, separate 

Board Packet Page 69



 

invoice(s) may be issued for each application, and each invoice shall contain the Department’s 
designated development application number. 

3.2 Payment. Within 30 days after the Department’s receipt of invoice(s), 
Department shall make payment to the Consultant based upon the agreed upon services 
described on the invoice(s) and approved by Department. 

 

4. Indemnification. Consultant shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless Department from and against any claims arising out of Consultant’s 
performance or failure to comply with obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent 
caused by the sole, active negligence or willful misconduct of Department. 

 
In this section, “Department” means the Department, its officials, officers, agents, employees 
and volunteers; “Consultant” means the Consultant, its employees, agents and subcontractors; 
“Claims” includes claims, demands, actions, losses, damages, injuries, and liability, direct or 
indirect (including any and all related costs and expenses) and any allegations of these; and 
“Arising out of” includes “pertaining to” and “relating to”. 

 
The provisions of this section survive completion of the services or the termination of this 
Agreement and are not limited by the provisions of Section 5 relating to insurance. 

 
5. Insurance. Consultant shall, throughout the duration of this Agreement, maintain 
insurance to cover Consultant, its agents, representatives, and employees in connection with 
the performance of services under this Agreement at the minimum levels set forth herein. 
 

5.1 Commercial General Liability (with coverage at least as broad as ISO form CG 00 01 01 
96) “per occurrence” coverage shall be maintained in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 general aggregate and $1,000,000 per occurrence for general liability, bodily 
injury, personal injury, and property damage. 

5.2 Workers’ Compensation coverage shall be maintained subject to statutory limits. 

5.3 Professional Liability “claims made” coverage shall be maintained to cover 
damages that may result from errors, omissions, or negligent acts of Consultant in 
an amount not less than $1,000,000 per claim. 

5.4 Endorsements. Consultant shall obtain endorsements to the automobile 
and commercial general liability insurance policies with the following 
provisions: 

5.5 The Department (including its elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers) shall be named as an additional “insured.” 

5.6 For any claims related to this Agreement, Consultant’s coverage shall be primary 
insurance with respect to the Department. Any insurance maintained by the 
Department shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with 
it. 

5.7 Notice of Cancellation. Consultant shall notify the Department if the policy is canceled 
before the expiration date. For the purpose of this notice requirement, any material 
change in the policy prior to the expiration shall be considered a cancellation. 

Board Packet Page 70



 

Consultant shall immediately obtain a replacement policy. 
5.8 Insurance Certificate. Consultant shall provide evidence of compliance with the 

insurance requirements listed above by providing a certificate of insurance and 
endorsements, in a form satisfactory to Department.   

5.9 Consultant’s Obligation. Maintenance of insurance by Consultant as specified in this 
Agreement shall in no way be interpreted as relieving Consultant of any responsibility 
whatsoever (including indemnity obligations under this Agreement), and Consultant 
may carry, at its own expense, such additional insurance as it deems necessary. Failure 
to provide or maintain any insurance policies or endorsements required herein may 
result in Department terminating this Agreement. 

 
 

6. Termination. Department may terminate this Agreement by giving ten days’ written 
notice to Consultant. Upon termination, Consultant shall give Department all original 
documents, including preliminary drafts and supporting documents, prepared by Consultant 
for this Agreement. Department shall pay Consultant for all services satisfactorily performed in 
accordance with this Agreement, up to and including the termination date. 

 
7. Dispute Resolution. If any dispute arises between the Department and Consultant 
that cannot be settled after engaging in good faith negotiations, Department and Consultant 
agree to resolve the dispute in accordance with the following: 

 
7.1 Each Party shall designate a senior management or executive level 

representative to negotiate a resolution to the dispute. 
7.2 The representatives shall attempt, through good faith negotiations, to resolve the 

dispute by any means within their authority. 
7.3 If the issue remains unresolved after fifteen (15) days of good faith negotiations, the 

Parties shall resolve any remaining disputes through mediation to expedite the 
resolution of the dispute. 

7.4 The Parties shall equally bear the costs of any third party in any alternative dispute 
resolution process. 

7.5 The dispute resolution process is a material condition to this Agreement and must be 
exhausted prior to either Party initiating legal action. This dispute resolution process 
is not intended to nor shall be construed to change the time periods for filing a claim 
or action specified by Government Code §§ 900 et seq. 

 
8. Ownership of Work. All original documents prepared by Consultant for this Agreement, 
whether complete or in progress, are the property of Department, and shall be given to 
Department at the completion of Consultant’s services, or upon demand from Department. 
No such documents shall be revealed or made available by Consultant to any third party 
without Department’s prior written consent. 

 
9. Independent Contractor Status. Consultant is an independent contractor and is solely 
responsible for the acts of its employees or agents, including any negligent acts or omissions. 

Board Packet Page 71



 

Consultant is not Department’s employee and Consultant shall have no authority, express or 
implied, to act on behalf of Authority as an agent, or to bind Authority to any obligation, 
unless Authority provides prior written authorization. Consultant, and its agents or 
employees, are not entitled to Authority benefits. 

 
10. Conflicts of Interest. Consultant (including its employees, agents, and subconsultants) 
shall not maintain or acquire any direct or indirect interest that conflicts with the performance 
of this Agreement. If Consultant maintains or acquires such a conflicting interest, the 
Department may terminate any contract (including this Agreement) involving Consultant’s 
conflicting interest. 

 
11. Notices. All notices, demands, or other communications which this Agreement 
contemplates or authorizes shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed to 
the other party to the addresses listed below. Communications shall be deemed to have been 
given and received on the first to occur of: (1) actual receipt at the address designated below, 
or (2) three working days after the deposit in the United States Mail of registered or certified 
mail, sent to the address designated below. 

To Department: To Consultant: 

 

Muir Beach FD (CSD) Blackrock 3 Partners Inc.  
Chris Grove, Fire Chief  5830 E 2nd street STE 7000 

19 Seascape Drive Casper WY 82609 

     Muir Beach, CA 94965       Email:   Ron@Blackrock3.com 
 

12. Miscellaneous.
12.1 Standard of Care. Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, the standard 

of care applicable to Consultant’s services will be the degree of skill and diligence ordinarily 
used by reputable professionals performing in the same or similar time and locality, and 
under the same or similar circumstances. 

12.2 Amendments. This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any 
manner other than by an agreement in writing signed by both Parties. 

12.3 Waivers. Waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement shall not 
constitute a continuing waiver or a waiver of a subsequent breach of the same or any 
other provision of this Agreement. 

12.4 Assignment and Delegation. Consultant may not assign, transfer, or delegate 
this Agreement or any portion of it without Department’s written consent. Department’s 
consent to one assignment shall not be deemed to be a consent to any subsequent 
assignment. 

12.5 Jurisdiction and Venue. The interpretation, validity, and enforcement of the 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of California. Any 
suit, claim, or legal proceeding of any kind related to this Agreement shall be filed and heard in 
a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of Marin. 

12.6 Compliance with the Law. Consultant shall comply with all applicable 

Board Packet Page 72



 

local, state, and federal laws, whether or not those laws are expressly stated in this 
Agreement. 

12.7 Non-discrimination. Consultant represents and warrants that it is an equal 
opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, 
ancestry, sex, or age. Consultant shall also comply with all applicable anti-discrimination 
federal and state laws, including but not limited to, the California Fair Employment and 
Housing Act (Gov. Code 12990 (a-f) et seq.). 

12.8 Severability. If a term of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the Agreement shall be construed as not containing that term, and 
the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in effect. 

12.9 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

12.10 Controlling Provisions. In the case of any conflict between the terms of this 
Agreement and the Exhibits hereto, and Consultant’s proposal (if any), the Agreement shall 
control. In the case of any conflict between the Exhibits hereto and Consultant’s proposal (if 
any), the Exhibits shall control. 

12.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the attached Exhibits comprise the 
entire integrated understanding between the Parties concerning the services to be 
performed. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or 
agreements. All exhibits attached hereto are incorporated by reference herein. 

 

Signatures. The individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of Consultant represent and 
warrant that they have the right, power, legal capacity, and authority to enter into and to execute 
this Agreement on behalf of Consultant. 

 
The Parties agree to the full performance of the terms set forth here. 
 
  
 

Muir Beach  Fire Department    Blackrock 3 Partners Inc.  
          

 
 
 ____________________    ______________________ 

By  Chris Grove     By Ron Vidal  
 Title: Fire Chief      Title: Partner  
 
  

Date:___________     Date:__________ 
 

 

 

 

Board Packet Page 73



 

 
EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK  
   

Purpose: 

Federal, State, Local, and Private grant funding can be necessary to fill critical fire department 

equipment, staffing, and operational needs. Consultant shall advise Department on available grant 

programs for which Department may be eligible and, upon mutual consent, assist Department in the 

preparation and submittal of grant applications. 

  

Services:  

● Deliverables  

o The Department will provide information regarding its current and future goals for 

grant funding consideration.   

o The Consultant will provide updated information regarding prospective and 

contemporary grant opportunities that may meet current and future goals.   

o At the direction of the Department, the Consultant will deliver a complete grant 

application for final submission to the granting agency.   

  

● Milestones  

o The Consultant will provide information on granting status as it becomes available.   

  

● Reports  

o The Consultant shall, at the request of the Department, provide a summary report 

regarding the status of grant application(s).  

  

● Expectations  

o The Department will make administrative and operational personnel available to 

gather, analyze, and provide information necessary to complete grant applications.   

o Both the Department and Consultant agree to be responsive by returning any 

communications within 24 hours upon receipt.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet Page 74



 

 

EXHIBIT B  

FEE SCHEDULE 

 

 

Blackrock 3 Partners Inc. fee schedule for FY 2025/26 is provided in the table below. 

 

 

Service / Personnel 

  

All Inclusive Fee / Hourly Rate 

Grant Submission Fee – Due upon submission of a 

qualifying grant.   

$1,000.00 

Grant Award Fee – Due upon successful award notification 

of a qualifying grant. 

 

1% of total Grant Award Package 

(local and federal share combined) 

Grant Management Assistance  TBD 

 

On the anniversary date of each year, Blackrock 3 Partners Inc. will evaluate a rate increase based 

on, but not limited to, the annual change in CPI for the applicable region.  

Board Packet Page 75



District Manager Report – November 2025 

 

Water, Fire, Recreation, Roads, Finance, and Communications 

General: 

Board of Directors – the board will be holding a Special meeting on December 3, 2025 to approve a new CCCP 

ordinance. 

District Manager – currently focusing on CCCP ordinance, program, and plan submittal for this coming December 

deadline, as well as trying to wrap up summer projects and prepare for the winter months. 

Water: 

Redwood Creek Stream Monitoring – onsite monitoring no longer required since fall rains started.  Current stream 

flows are now between .16 – 26.4 cfps and stream height at 1.0 – 1.76 ft. 

Water Reports – monthly reports including the Drought reports (DDR) are currently submitted through Oct 2025. 

State Waterboards Triennium Sanitary Survey – still waiting for final survey report from 10/1/24 SWB onsite visit 

but have heard the water engineer Asees Grewall – who did the survey – is no longer with the SWB.  Our new 

assigned water engineer is Kam Kei Chen – who is very familiar with our system well. 

Marin Water Seasonal Intertie possibility – Supervisor Rodoni is still encouraging interested parties (County of 

Marin, Marin Water, Marin Conservation League, and Jared Huffman’s Office) to pursue grant funding. 

Pump repairs – the 2002 well has been having a series of electrical and pump related issues that our water team 

has been diligently working to resolve as they arise.  

Lower Tank  – contractor J&D’s completed replacing non-working valve and installed a new water meter at the 

Lower Tank to help with leak detection.  Drainage line across LT property is now complete. 

Leak Detection – we have been making a concerted effort to locate sources of any water leaks.  We hired 

American Leak Detection to try to locate the leak source on the CC line but it was determined that the source was 

not on that main. 

Water infrastructure under CSD Footbridge – have asked Linscott to give us a proposal for raising the electrical 

and water pipes underneath the footbridge to make them less vulnerable during creek flooding events. 

Water Tiers – researched the origin of the current water conservation discount tiers and calculated what may be a 

better approach to revising the usage range to encourage more water conservation in the mid and upper tiers. 

Cross Connection Plan – have drafted a Cross-Connection Control (CCC) ordinance for the first reading at the 

November Board meeting and scheduled a Special meeting on December 3 for the board to approve with any 

changes so that we can meet the deadline to submit our new Cross-Connection Plan by December 31,2025.  We 

also are required to complete an Initial Hazard Assessment, for which I have sent out the official 

customer/property owner questionnaires on 10/30 to be reviewed by a contracted Cross-connection Control 

Specialist Jake Hulls.  It is due back by 11/30 and we have about 27% returned to-date.  I continue to meet with 

the water managers from Bolinas BCPUD and Inverness IPUD every two weeks to see if we can collaborate and 

possibly share resources for developing program policy and hiring backflow testers, etc. 

Board Packet Page 76



Fire: 

Firehouse – the new firehouse project progress came to a bit of a standstill since July when the firehouse 

committee determined that the project would require a General Contractor (GC) to coordinate the 

subcontractors, oversee project management and provide builder’s risk coverage.  We interviewed several 

recommended GCs.  The first decided he was not interested in the project and the second we entered into 

contract negotiations back on August 4.  After 3 months of very slow response, and general pushback on many of 

the standard contract terms by the contractor, our attorneys determined that we were never going to get to the 

point of an executable contract with this contractor, so we decided to conclude negotiations immediately – as we 

felt we had already lost too much time wading through all the standard terms and conditions that he felt were 

unacceptable.  With much disappointment at the outcome, the Fire Committee regrouped and Jon Rauh, an 

excellent GC and member of our Fire Committee, decided to step in and oversee the project.  We still have the 

originally approved two subcontractors for both the earthwork and cement work that are still honoring their 

proposals, so we are hoping we can get the project underway as soon as Jon has time to review and let us know 

what he needs to get started.  The earthwork contractor feels that the soil is fairly stable at the firehouse building 

site and that starting work this fall/winter is still possible.  MBVFA grant report to-date: we have received a total 

of $340,000 from the VFA since 2018, have spent a total of $127,582.48 on soft costs and demolition, and the 

current balance in the MBVFA Firehouse grant account is $212,417.52, plus there is an additional $100,000 

received from the County grant making a total of $312,417.52, and we should be receiving another $175,000 from 

the VFA when construction starts.  We are estimating the cost to just get the building structure up and close it in 

to be approximately $950,000. 

Measure C – are currently saving up funds to purchase a flail mower for ongoing vegetation maintenance but 

other tree work at the CC will likely be needed as well next year. 

MWPA  – Director Taylor has been working with the MWPA grant program.  Some grant funds were used to 

selectively reduce fuel load from 10ft on each side of the Upper Park trail.  The Terwilliger property on Pacific Way 

has cleared its permitting to remove some of the dead trees onsite and should get underway soon.  

Fire Tax – this coming year is the last year of the Measure L Fire Tax that helps fund the fire department activities 

and services.  We are beginning to start the process for developing the language to put a new ballot measure on 

the June 2026 ballot. 

Recreation: 

MB Community Center – septic upgrades were completed last month.  Am still looking into options to enclose and 

block the wind and rain from coming through the lower deck railing portion of the CC deck – possibly specialty 

plastics such as polycarbonate plastic, Plexiglass, or tempered glass are materials that would not obstruct the 

view. 

MBCC Rentals – the CC has recently been missing some items like tables.  We are discussing lending protocols. 

Prop 68 Per Capita Recreation grant – the CC Parking Project Phase 2 permit application has just been waiting for 

the septic inspection certification.  We are hoping for construction to begin in the summer 2026.  We have until 

December 2027 to complete construction and March 2028 to close out our Prop 68 grant. 

Measure A – with construction of the CC Parking project now being postponed until next spring, the funds 

have/are currently being used this fiscal year to rehabilitate the playground and various trails, and possibly, for 

some form of new CC lower deck protection. 

Board Packet Page 77



Parks and Trails – there has been much concern about the multi-use of the Upper Park trail for both hiking and 

biking.  Since first coming in as DM almost 10 years ago, the main issue reported to me concerning the trail was 

that there was a stream of water periodically being encountered on the trail causing mud and overgrowth of 

vegetation.    Then at that same time, the second most consistently reported issue was that the trail was 

becoming too overgrown with brush and vegetation that was now encroaching on the trail.  So, over the past 

many years the CSD ground crew has spent much time on the Upper Park trail hand cutting and weed whacking to 

gently push back the brush and open up the trail to be more accessible.  It seems now having the trail more open 

has made it more attractive to the bikes. 

Roads: 

Maintenance – currently the last remaining maintenance projects planned for fall are crack filling on Sunset Way, 

small patch repair on Pacific, and road edge stabilization on the Starbuck Extension.  We are waiting for an 

estimate from Rodas. 

Communications:  

Cybersecurity – I continue to receive and review our CISA weekly IP scanning reports. 

Website – as always, continuing to update pages – annual financial page graphs now updated thru FY24-25, then 

post routine documents and do security updates. 

Muir Beach Directory – continue to update weekly, currently updated thru 11/11/25. 

Finance: 

Audits – the draft 6.30.25 audit report is complete and posted on the website for review and approval on the 

November 19 Board meeting Consent Calendar.  There were no unusual auditor comments or observations. 

District Office Business – we replaced the office high-speed scanner with a new Ricoh fi-8150 scanner – as 

recommended by our scanner technician.  The scanner works excellent, but we have had difficulties getting it to 

interface with our document management software FileCenter, but now, after many hours with online support, 

we may have finally gotten the driver and the program to “shake hands”.  We have also replaced the DM 10-year-

old laptop.  I now just need time to get the two laptops into the computer technician to transfer everything over 

from the old laptop.  As always, I am continuing to process all District mail and work with Sharry to make sure 

payroll timesheets, routine/event reimbursements, Credit Card expenditures, incoming payments and outgoing 

checks are all processed and expedited between agencies, employees, and vendors promptly. 

Respectfully submitted,  

Mary Halley 

MBCSD District Manager 

Board Packet Page 78



ORDINANCE NO. 2025-2 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT ESTABLISHING 

 A CROSS-CONNECTION CONTROL ORDINANCE TO PROTECT THE PUBLIC WATER SYSTEM 
 
 
The Board of Directors of the Muir Beach Community Services District does ordain as follows: 
 
 
Section 1 Repeal of Existing Ordinance 
 
There is no existing Cross-connection control ordinance to repeal. 
 
 
Section 2 Purpose and Authority 
 
The purpose of this ordinance is: to protect the public water supply system from contamination due to potential 
and actual cross-connections. This shall be accomplished by the establishment of a cross-connection control 
program as required by State regulations. This ordinance is adopted pursuant to Title 17, Section 7583 – 7605, 
inclusive, of the California Code of Regulations, entitled “Regulations Relating to Cross-Connections”. 
 
 
Section 3 Responsibility 
 
The District Manager working with a cross-connection control specialist – whether on staff or a subcontractor 
hired by the Muir Beach Community Services District Water System - shall be responsible for implementing and 
enforcing the cross-connection control program. An appropriate backflow prevention assembly shall be installed 
by and at the expense of the water user at each user connection where required to prevent backflow from the 
water user’s premises to the domestic water system. It shall be the water user’s responsibility to comply with the 
Muir Beach Community Services District Water System requirements. 
 
 
Section 4 Definitions 
 
For the purposes of this Ordinance, the definitions in Section 7583 of Title 17 of the California Code of 
Regulations shall apply. 
 
 
Section 5 Cross-Connection Protection Requirements 
 
The type of protection that shall be provided to prevent backflow into the public water supply system shall be 
commensurate with the degree of hazard, actual or potential, that exists on the water user’s premises. 
Unprotected cross-connections with the public water supply are prohibited. The type of backflow prevention 
assembly that may be required (listed in decreasing level of protection) includes:  
 

1. Air-gap separation (AG) 
2. Reduced Pressure Principal Backflow Prevention Assembly (RP) 
3. Double Check Valve Assembly (DC) 

 
The water user may choose a higher level of protection than required by the water system supplier. The minimum 
types of backflow prevention required to protect the approved water supply at the user’s water connection to 
premises with varying degrees of hazard are listed in Table 1 of Section 7604, Title 17. Situations which are not 
covered in Table 1 shall be evaluated on a case-by-case basis and the appropriate backflow prevention shall be 
determined by the water supplier or public health agency.   

Board Packet Page 79



 
Examples of sites where backflow prevention devices are required include locations with auxiliary water 
supply, locations where pressurized fluids are handled, locations with plumbing connections to unpotable 
piping or water storage facilities, and all commercial connections. 
 
 
Section 6 Backflow Prevention Assemblies 
 
A. Only backflow prevention assemblies which have been approved by the Muir Beach Community Services 
District shall be acceptable for installation by a water user. A list of approved backflow prevention assemblies will 
be provided upon request to any affected customer. Backflow prevention assemblies shall be installed in a 
manner prescribed in Section 7603, Title 17. Location of the assemblies shall be as close as practical to the 
user’s connection. The Muir Beach Community Services District shall have the final authority in determining the 
required location of the backflow prevention assembly. 
 
B. Testing of backflow assemblies shall be conducted only by qualified testers and testing will be the 
responsibility of the water user. Backflow prevention assemblies must be tested at least annually and immediately 
after installation, relocation, or repair. More frequent testing may be required if deemed by the Muir Beach 
Community Services District. No assembly shall be placed back in service unless it is functioning as required. 
These assemblies shall be serviced, overhauled, or replaced whenever they are found to be defective, and all 
costs of testing, repair, and maintenance shall be borne by the water user. Approval must be obtained from the 
Muir Beach Community Services District prior to removing, relocating or replacing a backflow prevention 
assembly. 
 
 
Section 7 Administration 
 
The cross-connection control program shall be administered by the District Manager working with a cross-
connection control specialist whether on staff or a hired subcontractor. The Muir Beach Community Services 
District Water System will establish and maintain a list of approved backflow prevention assemblies as well as a 
list of approved backflow prevention assembly testers. The Muir Beach Community Services District Water 
System shall conduct necessary surveys of water user premises to evaluate the degree of potential health 
hazards. The Muir Beach Community Services District Water System shall notify users when an assembly needs 
to be tested. The notice shall contain the date when the test must be completed and any subsequent actions and 
fees the District may impose if not completed by the completion date. 
 
 
Section 8 Records 
 
The Muir Beach Community Services District staff shall maintain records of the locations, tests, maintenance, 

repairs, and replacements of backflow preventers required pursuant to CCCPH section 3.2.1. 

 
 
Section 9 Noncompliance 
 
When the Muir Beach Community Services District Water System encounters water uses that represent a clear 
and immediate hazard to the potable water supply that cannot be immediately abated, the procedure for 
terminating water service shall be instituted. Conditions of water uses that create a basis for water service 
termination shall include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

1. Refusal to install or to test a backflow prevention assembly, or to repair or replace a faulty backflow 
prevention assembly. 

2. Direct or indirect connection between the public water system and a sewer or septic line. 
3. Unprotected direct or indirect connection between the public water system and a system or equipment 

containing contaminants. 
4. Unprotected direct or indirect connection between the public water system and an auxiliary water system. 

Board Packet Page 80



 
For condition 1, the Muir Beach Community Services District Water System will terminate service to a water 
user’s premises after proper notification has been sent. If no action is taken within the allowed time period, water 
service shall be terminated. 
 
For conditions 2, 3, or 4, the Muir Beach Community Services District Water System shall take the following 
steps: 
 

1. Make reasonable efforts to advise the water user of intent to terminate water service; 
2. Terminate water service and lock service valve. The water service shall remain inactive until correction of 

violations has been approved by the Muir Beach Community Services District Water System. 
 
 
 
Section 10 Liability 
 
The Muir Beach Community Services District shall not be liable for any injury to persons or damage to property 
which may result directly or indirectly from the installation, malfunction, testing, or repair of any backflow 
preventer. 
 
 
Section 11 Effective Date 
 
Upon approval by the Board of Directors, this ordinance shall be effective immediately. 
 
 
Section 12 Severability 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, portion or part of this ordinance is for any reason held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such section shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance.  The Board of Directors hereby declares that it would have passed this 
ordinance, any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or 
more sections, subsections, clauses, or phrases may be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this           day of             , 2025 by the following vote of the Board of Directors. 
 
Ayes: 
 
Noes: 
 
Absent: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Board President 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
District Manager 

 

Board Packet Page 81



Calculations: to explore the impact on Water Users/Customers if Water Discount Tier 3 was narrowed

Current - 1 year
Tiers Gallons Discount % Customers Usage Per/Tier

Current 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2024 1-year Avg % of all Users
16-Sep 16-Jul 16-May 16-Mar 16-Jan 16-Nov

1 0 - 4500 50% 63 63 69 80 81 66 70 43.4%
2 4501 - 10,000 43% 51 49 65 56 57 54 55 34.2%
3 10,001 - 30,000 30% 42 45 24 19 21 37 31 19.3%
4 30,001 + 0% 6 5 4 7 3 5 5 3.1%

Calculations: to explore the impact on Water Users/Customers if Water Discount Tier 3 was narrowed from 10,001 - 15,000 Gallons

Scenario: Tier 3 - 10,001 - 15,000

Calculations Average % of all Users
3 10,001 -15,000 30% 24 23 15 12 14 24 19 11.5%
3 15,001 - 20,000 30% 10 10 5 6 6 10 8 4.8%

Total: 34 33 20 18 20 34 27 16.4%
Average
# of Users

Change Effected
1 0 - 4500 50% 63 63 69 80 81 66 70 43.4% 0
2 4501 - 10,000 43% 51 49 65 56 57 54 55 34.2% 0
3 10,001 - 15,000 30% 24 23 15 12 14 24 19 11.5% -12
4 15,001 + 0% 10 10 5 6 6 10 8 4.8% 13

Analysis: narrowing the Discount bracket for Tier 3 by 15,000 gallons would effect an average of between 12 - 13 customers who are 
currently in Tier 3 bracket with water usage above 15,001 gallons. They would now move to Tier 4.  All other brackets (Tier 1,2 and 4)
 customers would not change or be effected.

Limiting the Tier 3 bracket to 5,000 gallons would still leave the average 3 person  households that uses the State mandated average goal 
 of 50 gals p/day p/person totaling 9,150 galsfor the bi-monthly billing period, would still remain in tier 2 and even a 4 or 5 person household
 using the State mandated goal would stay for the most part in Tier 3.

I have not done any revenue analysis, as this issue was brought up more around the need for maximum water conservation efforts and may 
or may not have an impact on the District's revenues as water usage can decrease when the cost p/unit goes up as we have seen in the past 
when we've encouraged conservation.

Conclusion: The Board could implement this change without affecting the largest portion of Tier 1 and 2 water users which are currently 
 78% of all customers.  

Direction: The Board could vote to approve in December or January to become effective immediately or not until the next FY 2026-2027.

Board Packet Page 82


	MBCSD November 19 2025 Regular Meeting Agenda
	2025-9 Financial Reports
	2025-10 Financial Reports-Bdpck
	Minutes_Draft_2025-09-24
	Bender_November 19 Proposal for Upper Muir Beach Trail
	FIRE_DEPARTMENT REPORT_Nov 2025
	Fire_Blackrock - Muir Beach CSD grant contract
	DM Report for 11-19-25 Mary
	MBCSD Cross-Connection Control Ordinance 2025-2
	Water_Tier 3 Discount Bracket Analysis - November 2025



